RECEIVED

10-02-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 2017AP000850-CR

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

-VS-

Case No. 2013 CF 000196B (Wood County)

JOSEPH B. REINWAND, DEFENDANT-APPELLANT.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND THE ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, BOTH ENTERED IN WOOD COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE GREGORY J. POTTER PRESIDING.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

BY:

Philip J. Brehm Atty For Defendant-Appellant 23 West Milwaukee St., #200 Janesville, WI 53548 608/756-4994 Bar No. 1001823

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY ADMITTED TESTIMONIAL HEARSAY STATEMENTS BY D.M. UNDER A FORFEITURE BY WRONGDOING ANALYSIS, THEREBY DENYING DEFENDANT HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

On 6/26/14, the trial court ruled the State could call numerous witnesses to testify about testimonial hearsay statements the alleged victim, D.M., made to others (6/26/14 tr. at 3-10, App. at 115-22). On 4/5/17, the trial court orally denied defendant's motion for a new trial on this basis (333:3, App. at 102). On 4/24/17, an order denying a new trial on this basis was entered (299).

II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING OTHER ACTS EVIDENCE AGAINST DEFENDANT REINWAND THEREBY DENYING DEFENDANT HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

On 10/6/14, the trial court ruled the State could present other acts evidence against defendant Reinwand (10/6/14 transcript. at 3-5, App. at 127-29). On 4/5/17, the trial court orally denied defendant's motion for a new trial on this basis (333:3, App. at 102). On 4/24/17, an order denying a new trial on this basis was entered (299).

III. WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN OPENING THE DOOR TO THE ADMISSION OF PREVIOUSLY EXCLUDED DNA EVIDENCE AT TRIAL.

On 4/5/17, the trial court orally denied defendant's motion for a new trial on this basis (333:3-10, App. at 102-109). On 4/24/17, an order denying a new trial on this basis was entered (299).

IV. WHETHER DEFENDANT REINWAND SHOULD BE GRANTED A RESENTENCING BECAUSE TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE AT SENTENCING.

On 4/5/17, the trial court orally denied defendant's motion for a new trial on this basis (333:10-15, App. at 109-114). On 4/24/17, an order denying a new trial on this basis was entered (299).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Any issue addressed by the Wisconsin Supreme Court warrants oral argument and publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 5/24/13, a criminal complaint was filed Wood County Circuit Court against defendant Joseph B. Reinwand alleging the commission of the offenses of (1) first-degree intentional homicide; (2) arson with intent to defraud as a Class C felony; (3) felony bail jumping; and (4) felony bail jumping (24). On 8/17/13, a preliminary hearing was held (304). At the conclusion of the hearing, defendant was bound over for trial (304:75). On 9/3/13, an information was filed which alleged the same counts as the criminal complaint (32). On 9/12/13, defendant was arraigned (305). Defendant entered not guilty pleas to the charges (305:3).

On 1/14/14, the State filed a motion to admit other acts of defendant including burglary, theft and misappropriation of identity (58). On 10/6/14, the court granted the State's motion to authorize the admission of the evidence (10/6/14 tr. at 3-5, App. at 127-29).

On 1/6/14, the defense moved to sever the first-degree intentional homicide charge from the other three counts in the information (52). On 5/8/14, the court entered an order severing the first-degree homicide charge from the other counts (89).¹

_

¹ The first-degree homicide file was renumber to 2013CF 196B. The remaining charges were disposed of separately under 2013 CF 196. Those charges will not be discussed further in this brief.

On 1/14/14, the State filed a motion requesting the admission of prior statements of the alleged victim, D.M. (58). On 5/7/14 and 5/8/14, as an offer of proof, witnesses testified as to relevant statements made to them by the alleged victim, D.M. (312, 313). On 6/26/14, the court ruled most of the statements made by D.M. to others would be admissible under forfeiture by wrongdoing analysis (314:3-10, App. at 115-122).

On 4/15/14, the defense moved to exclude DNA testing results prior to November of 2009 (79). On 9/14/14 and 9/15/14, the court took relevant evidence and argument related to the issue (316, 317). On 9/29/14, the court granted the defense motion related to DNA evidence (9:29/14 tr. at 6-9, App. at 123-26).

On 8/19/14, the State filed a motion challenging the defense's intended use of an expert on defendant interrogations, Dr. Gregory DeClue (120). On 8/29/14, a hearing was held on the issue (315). On 9/29/14, the court held the expert's testimony was inadmissible (9/29/14 tr. at 3-6, App. at 120-23).

A jury trial was held over several days, 10/20/14, 10/21/14, 10/22/14, 10/23/14, 10/24/14, 10/27/14, 10/28/14, 10/29/14 and 10/30/14 (320-330). At the conclusion of the jury trial, defendant was convicted of first-degree intentional homicide, as alleged (329:188-91). The parties proceeded directly to sentencing (329:191:94). After a brief presentation by the parties, the court imposed life in prison without the possibility of parole (329:204).

Defendant filed a timely notice of intent to seek postconviction relief (285). On 1/25/16, defendant filed a motion for a new trial and in the alternative a resentencing (286). On 10/19/16, a postconviction motion hearing was held (331). On 4/5/17, the court orally denied defendant's postconviction motions (333:2-15, App. at 101-114). On 4/24/17, an order denying postconviction relief was entered (299). On 5/3/17, a notice of appeal was filed (301). The matter was briefed. On 7/26/18, the court of appeals sought certification of forfeiture-by-wrongdoing issue to the Wisconsin Supreme Court. On 9/4/18, the Wisconsin Supreme Court accepted certification.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant Joseph Reinwand was accused murdering D.M. between February 28, 2008 and March 4, D.M. was the father of defendant Reinwand's grandchild, E.M., then two years old (24). daughter, JoLynn Reinwand, is the mother of E.M. (24). There were no eyewitnesses to the murder (24). The case against defendant Reinwand was circumstantial. A lengthy jury trial took place between October 20 and 30, 2014 (320-330). Many witnesses were called during trial. A substantial portion of the State's case against defendant Reinwand, including over 10 witnesses, testified about statements D.M. made to them about defendant Reinwand. At trial, witness after witness was allowed to testify that D.M. told them he was fearful of defendant Reinwand and that if anything happened to him that defendant Reinwand would be responsible for his death.

Prior to trial, a lengthy hearing was held over two days on the admissibility of these statements, May 7 and 8, 2014 (312, 313). During this hearing, 15 witnesses testified regarding these statements: (1) Alice Conwell, the former mother-in-law of defendant Reinwand; (2) Michael Steger, the son-in-law of Alice Conwell; (3) Renee Steger, the daughter of Alice Conwell; (4) Jodi Biadacz, a close friend of D.M.; (5) Todd Biadasz, a close friend of D.M.; (6) Brian Molepske, a friend of D.M. since high school; (7) Carrie Garrow, a person who knew defendant Reinwand since high school; (8) Randy Winkels, a long-time friend of D.M.; (9) Cynthia Fellowes, a long-time friend of D.M.; (10) Raymond Meister, the brother of D.M.; (11) Monica Cline, a long-time friend of D.M.; (12) Clinton Gyrion, a friend of D.M. and Randy Winkels; (13) Michelle Meister, the sister-in-law of D.M.; (14) Martin Baur, the pastor at D.M.'s parish church; and (14) Ethan Bauer, the son of defendant Reinwand (312, 313).

A summary of the relevant evidence each witness testified about during the motion hearing is set forth in the State's "Supplemental Legal Brief on Use of Statements of Victim [D.M.] at Jury Trial Based on 'Forfeiture by Wrongdoing' and 'Adoptive Admissions' by the Defendant Under §908.01(4)(B)2" (94). The relevant content of testimony from each witness as summarized by the State is as follows:

- (1) Alice Conwell: "D.M. provided Ms. Conwell with information on his relationships, his concerns about a contentious child custody/visitation matter regarding his daughter, [E.M.], and his concerns about the Joseph Reinwand. Also, [D.M.] told her to look at Joseph Reinwand if something happens to him."
- (2) Michael Steger: "In the weeks prior to his death, [D.M.] provided Mr. Steger with information on his relationships, his concerns about a contentious child custody/visitation matter regarding his daughter, and his fears about Joseph Reinwand possibly hurting [D.M.] physically or killing [D.M.]."
- (3) Renee Steger: "D.M. provided Ms. Steger with information on his relationships, his concerns about a contentious child custody/visitation matter regarding his daughter, and his fears about Joseph Reinwand, the controlling behaviors of Joseph Reinwand, and Joseph Reinwand possibly going to hurt him."
- (4) Jodi Biadacz: "[D.M.] told her that he was threatened by Joseph Reinwand. Often [D.M.] would talk about his tumultuous relationship with JoLynn Reinwand and the custody/visitation dispute. ... Jodi also reported about overhearing a telephone call between [D.M.] and his brother Ray on the night of Monday, February 25, 2008. In the conversation Dale told his brother on the phone, 'if anything happens to me, its JoLynn's dad.'"
- (5) Todd Biadasz: "[H]e described several times when [D.M.] told him he was very concerned about Joseph Reinwand, he was threatened by Joseph Reinwand, and he was uncomfortable staying at his own trailer home as of February of 2008."
- (6) Brian Molepske: "[D.M.] told him about child placement disputes, not trusting Joseph Reinwand, and that Joseph Reinwand was interfering with the custody

matter. [D.M.] also told Brian that he was afraid of Joseph Reinwand."

- (7) Carrie Garrow: "Carrie reported the last time she talked to [D.M.], he had just filed for visitation rights with his daughter. [D.M.] told Carrie that JoLynn was really mad. [D.M.] commented to her about feeling threatened from JoLynn's dad. [D.M.] said he felt like someone was driving past his trailer watching him. [D.M.] said Joe Reinwand was asking him personal questions that he felt were inappropriate."
- (8) Randy Winkels: "[D.M.] was excited about increased visitation with his daughter, but also scared during the week before he was found dead. Winkels also overheard [D.M.] on the telephone arguing with JoLynn Reinwand. In February of 2008, [D.M.] provided Winkels with information that Joseph Reinwand got into a heated conversation with [D.M.] at [D.M.'s] trailer. He also told Winkels that Reinwand choked him up against the trailer during the heated conversation."
- (9) Cynthia Fellowes: "[D.M.] told Cynthia that Joe Reinwand (Jolynn's father) was constantly meddling in their relationship. [D.M.] wanted Joe to leave them alone. Around Halloween of 2007 when she had coffe with [D.M.] at her house, [D.M.] told Cynthia about being threatened by Joe Reinwand. During the coffee meeting, [D.M.] expressed concern for his safety. Joe had been making comments to [D.M.] about kicking his ass. Joe told [D.M.] that he had guns and he if he wanted to, he could kill him with his feet. Joe also told [D.M.] that he had done it before and that no one would ever find his body. Cynthia remembered [D.M.] telling her that if Joe thinks [D.M.] is going to stay out of his baby's life, he has another thing coming. Cynthia also heard from [D.M.] that Joe made the comment to him 'I've killed once, I'm not afraid to do it again."
- (10) Raymond Meister: "[D.M.] was nervous and told Ray that he had been threatened by JoLynn's father (Joe Reinwand).
- (11) Monica Cline: "She described having emotional conversations with [D.M.] in February of 2008 regarding child custody issues and [D.M.'s] concerns about his life being in danger because of comments made to [D.M.] by Joseph Reinwand. During these conversations [D.M.] never told Monica to provide this information to the police or any other authority. In one part of the conversation with Monica, he told her that if anything

happened to him, she should tell the authorities to look at JoLynn's father, her aunt, and possibly another Reinwand family member."

- (12) Clinton Gyrion: "[D.M.] talked to Clinton about being excited about more child visits with [D.M.'s] daughter. [D.M.] also expressed concerns about his wellbeing due to JoLynn Reinwand's father."
- (13) Michelle Meister: "[D.M.] called Michelle on the evening of Wednesday, February 27, 2008 just before 7 p.m. [D.M.] talked to her about his visitation schedule to start the next day with his daughter E.M. [D.M.] told Michelle that JoLynn was resisting the start date for the visitation. According to Michelle from the phone call, [D.M.] had told JoLynn that she would get in trouble with the Court Commissioner if she did not allow him visituation on Thursday, February 28th. In conversations prior to the February 27th call, [D.M.] had told Michelle that if [D.M.] would up dead, look at Joe Reinwand because Joe had been threatening [D.M.]. During the February 27, 2008 phone conversation, Michelle reported that [D.M.] again mentioned Joe Reinwand threatening him. [D.M.] told Michelle that he was supposed to meet up with Joe 'in a little while here.' Michelle asked [D.M.] if he really thought Joe would kill him. [D.M.] said 'yes' he was capable of killing him and stated, 'he's really out there.' Michelle confronted [D.M.] in the call and said 'Why are you going to meet him?' At that point, [D.M.] said something about a gun and then switched the topic to JoLynn being really mad at him. During the February 27, 2008 call, Michelle could hear in [D.M.'s] voice that [D.M.] was scared. Michelle reported about another phone call about a week earlier. In that call [D.M.] told Michelle that Joe Reinwand had made the statement to [D.M.] 'if you press your visitation rights, you will never see E.M. again.' [D.M.] told Michelle that Joe had made other threats against [D.M.] and told her that if he turned up dead or missing, she should look at Joe Reinwand."
- (14) Pastor Martin Baur: "[D.M.] told his pastor that he was afraid of Joseph Reinwand. [D.M.] was concerned for his own life. [D.M.] told the pastor that he expected to be dead and the person who did it would stage it to look like a suicide. [D.M.] met with the pastor on the afternoon of Monday, February 25, 2008 and they talked about [D.M.] getting visitation rights with his daughter E.M. [D.M.] told the pastor 'I should feel great, but I don't.' He was glad to get more visitation but did not want to see his former girlfriend JoLynn upset. He was

also scared that his mediation efforts would make JoLynn, her father and her Aunt more upset. [D.M.] told the pastor that if he died, the pastor should look at Joe Reinwand and dig deeper into it. During his testimony at the motion hearing, Baur stated that there were at least five times that [D.M.] spoke of these topics."

(15) Ethan Bauer: "[D.M.] told Ethan that he was afraid of Ethan's dad (Joe Reinwand). He was afraid that Joe Reinwand would kill him. [D.M.] was staring at Ethan when he told him that information. Ethan was 100% certain that [D.M.'s] statements were genuine. [D.M.] pressed Ethan and asked him if he thought his dad would kill him. [D.M.] also told Ethan that JoLynn was resistive of any type of agreed custody." (94, 312, 313).

On 6/26/14, the trial court ruled on the admissibility of the relevant statements of the 15 witnesses (314:3-10, App. at 115-122). The court found what D.M. had told the witnesses about the child custody/placement issues was nontestimonial hearsay and was admissible (314:5, App. at 117).

As to other statements by D.M. about his fear of defendant Reinwand, the trial court ruled the statements were testimonial:

The testimonial statements come into play when the various witnesses have stated if something happens to [D.M.], they were supposed to look to Mr. Reinwand. In making those statements, it's obvious that [D.M.] indicated if something happened to him, they should go to the police, they should look toward Mr. Reinwand. Those statements could be interpreted that the declarant is objectively foreseeing that his statement might be used in the investigation or prosecution of a crime. He was fearing for his safety and his well-being and he stated numerous times to numerous people that if something happens to him, that's what should take place. And therefore, those are testimonial, the confrontation clause applies (314:6, App. at 118).

However, the court authorized the admission of the testimonial statements on based on forfeiture by wrongdoing:

In this case, the exception comes into play because there was litigation that was commenced. ... In this case, numerous witnesses have indicated that the parties, that being [D.M.] and Mr. Reinwand's daughter, had a daughter together; that [D.M.] was seeking additional

visitation and placement; that they had gone through mediation; that mediation resulted in an order being rendered; that Ms. Reinward indicated that she was not going to comply with the mediation order, and Mr. Schmidt, who was representing one of the parties, indicated that the next step in that process if mediation was not successful or if it was not being complied with meant that it would have to be heard by one of the—by the trial court and that would result in litigation. The litigation obviously would require the testimony of each of the parties and therefore by having the homicide take place, Mr. Reinwand was ensuring that [D.M.] would not be available to testify at that type of hearing. I should also note that the Giles² at 554 U.S. 359 somewhat indicated that there isn't really a distinction when you have a person that hasn't commenced a lawsuit yet but is going to and is then made unavailable versus having a lawsuit and then simply making the person unavailable. Basically, you're accomplishing the same thing. In either respect, you're making sure that the person is unavailable and unable to testify at the hearing. Based upon that, again, I find and grant the State's motions to allow the forfeiture of wrongdoing and adopt the forfeiture by wrongdoing (314:7-8, App. at 119-120).

The court went on to hold certain statements made by D.M. to Randy Winkels, Cynthia Fellowes, Pastor Baur and Ethan Bauer would not be admissible at trial without a further offer of proof by the State (314:8-10, App. at 120-21).

At defendant's jury trial, 12 of the witnesses were called by the State and testified consistent with the trial court's pretrial ruling.

On 10/20/14, Randy Winkels testified D.M. expressed concerns about defendant Reinwand and that "he seemed a little scared" of him (320:157-58). On 10/27/14, he was recalled as a witness (326:152). During his second appearance, he testified he met with D.M. on 2/27/08 (326:153). During that meeting, D.M. told him he had a physical altercation with defendant Reinwand (326:154). D.M. told him at some unspecified time, defendant Reinwand threw him against his trailer and choked him (326:154).

-

² Giles v. California, 554 U.S. 353 (2008).

On 10/21/14, Jodi Biadacz testified she spoke with [D.M.] shortly before his death (321:22). D.M. told her he was scared of defendant Reinwand and that if anything happened to him, that defendant Reinwand would be the person responsible for it (321:23-25). She testified D.M. appeared frightened of defendant (321:24).

On 10/21/14, Michelle Meister testified D.M. told her defendant Reinwand threatened him and that D.M. would get visits with his daughter over defendant's dead body (321:65). She testified D.M. appeared worried (321:66). She testified D.M. told her that if he pressed for visits with his daughter, defendant Reinwand told him he would never see her again (321:69). She testified that D.M. believed that defendant was "out there" and that he would really kill him (321:71). She reiterated D.M. was frightened of defendant Reinwand (321:72).

On 10/21/14, Walter Sosin, D.M.'s cousin testified (321:119). Although he was not part of the State's earlier offer of proof in May of 2014, he testified that D.M. told him he had concerns about defendant Reinwand, that he was afraid defendant Reinwand was going to "kick his ass" (321:126-27).

On 10/21/14, Renee Steger testified that D.M. "feels like he may be threatened. He feels like [defendant] was going to come after him if he continued to pursue visitation. He felt threatened" (321:167). She testified D.M. expressed concerns about defendant Reinwand on multiple occasions and that he appeared agitated about the situation (321:168-69).

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