In the Supreme Court of Wisconsin

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT,

RECEIVED

NOV 21 2018

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
OF WISCONSIN

υ.

JOSEPH B. REINWAND, DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

On Appeal From The Wood County Circuit Court, The Honorable Gregory J. Potter, Presiding, Case No. 13CF196B

RESPONSE BRIEF OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MISHA TSEYTLIN Solicitor General

SOPEN B. SHAH Deputy Solicitor General Counsel of Record

Wisconsin Department of Justice 17 West Main Street P.O. Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 shahsb@doj.state.wi.us (608) 261-8107

Attorneys for the State of Wisconsin

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

Federal Government charged Stewart with the 1999 shooting, among other things, and admitted Ragga's statements to his family and friends. Id. The Second Circuit held that the admission of those statements did notviolate Confrontation Clause "even though Stewart's efforts" were not focused on preventing him from testifying "in the present federal case (which had not yet been initiated)." Id. at 672. It referenced the "equitable" purpose, id. at 670 (quoting Crawford, 541 U.S. at 62), behind the forfeiture-bywrongdoing exception to hold that "the forfeiture principle applies even to situations where there was no ongoing proceeding in which the declarant was scheduled to testify." Id. at 672 (citations omitted). Indeed, a "contrary rule would serve as a prod to the unscrupulous to [kill] suspected snitches sooner rather than later." Id. (citation omitted).

Courts have held that the exception applies "without regard to the nature of the charges at the trial in which the declarant's statements are offered." United States v. Gray, 405 F.3d 227, 241 (4th Cir. 2005). In Gray, a court admitted a husband's statements during the three months leading up to his death in his wife's trial for murder. Although the wife intended to make the husband unavailable in a different proceeding for assault, id. at 241, the Fourth Circuit relied upon the "purpose[s]" behind the exception—protecting the justice system and preventing defendants from profiting from their own misconduct—to hold that "[a] defendant who wrongfully and intentionally renders a declarant unavailable

as a witness in any proceeding forfeits the right to exclude, on hearsay grounds, the declarant's statements at that proceeding and any subsequent proceeding." Id. at 241–43. The Illinois Supreme Court agreed in *Illinois v. Peterson*, 106 N.E.3d 944, 964 (Ill. 2017), where it held that the defendant's ex-wife's statements were admissible in his trial for her murder because he killed her to prevent her from testifying at a "bifurcated divorce" proceeding involving custody and other "financial issues." Id. at 952, 963. That court made the requisite "intent" finding under Giles because the State presented evidence about their "acrimonious divorce" and because "custody of the couple's two sons remained a contested issue." Id. at 961–62. The ex-wife "was passionate about not relinquishing custody to defendant." Id. at 962. Because the ex-wife was a "party opponent" in the bifurcated litigation, the "inference" that the defendant murdered his exwife to prevent her from testifying was "much stronger in this case" than another where the victim was a "minor witness." Id.

There is no requirement that the defendant be a party to the other proceeding as long as he "benefits" from the witness's unavailability and acted with intent to procure it. See Giles, 554 U.S. at 365 (citing G. Gilbert, Law of Evidence 140–141 (1756)). As discussed above, many courts have applied the exception in circumstances where proceedings had not yet begun; and there are no parties to uninitiated proceedings. In addition, the equitable underpinnings of the

exception support its broad application. The forfeiture-by-wrongdoing doctrine "protect[s] the integrity of [court] proceedings" by keeping more potential witnesses alive. *Giles*, 554 U.S. at 374. A contrary rule would "permit[]" those willing to kill for even indirect benefits "to take advantage of [their] wrong[s]." *Reynolds*, 98 U.S. at 159; *see also Mattox*, 156 U.S. at 242.

2. In this case, Reinward engaged in conduct murder—designed to prevent Meister from testifying at future proceedings involving Reinwand's granddaughter. Giles, 554 U.S. 353. Evidence supports "a finding that [Reinwand's] crime expressed the intent to . . . stop" Meister from testifying in custody proceedings. See id. at 377. There was "[e]arlier abuse," when Reinwand showed up at Meister's trailer home and assaulted him while making threats about the visitation dispute. Id.; R.320:196; 323:196-97; 325:153-Reinwand made multiple "threats of abuse" directly 54. related to Meister's involvement in visitation and custody proceedings. Giles, U.S. at 377. For example, Reinward told Meister that if he tried to see his daughter, it would be the last time he ever saw her. R.320:65, 69. Reinwand also told Meister that he would see his daughter "over his dead body." R.320:65, 69. There was "evidence of . . . proceedings at which the victim would have been expected to testify." Giles, 554 U.S. at 377. Meister had already sought mediation from Wood County courts to get visitation of his daughter. R.320:238. Although he prevailed, Jolynn indicated she would not comply

with the order. R.320:71; *Peterson*, 106 N.E.3d at 962. When one party does not comply with a mediation order, the other party can seek recourse from the courts. App.119. Meister was preparing to do so; he did internet research with others to identify visitation and custody options. *See* R.323:185–86 (Michael); 320:215 (Conwell). Finally, the timing of Meister's death indicates Reinwand killed Meister to prevent his testimony in future proceedings. *See Emery*, 186 F.3d at 925–26. Reinwand killed Meister almost immediately after Jolynn became upset that the mediator granted him visitation. R.319:40–43.

3. Reinwand argues that the trial court "failed to make a finding" that preventing Meister from testifying was a "substantial reason" for the murder, but that is wrong. Opening Br. 21. The trial court found that Reinward killed Meister "for the purpose of" making him unavailable to testify. App.118–20. "[N]umerous witnesses" indicated that an on-going custody dispute between Reinwand's daughter and Meister was likely to result in litigation. App.118–19. The court noted that Reinwand "was ensuring" that Meister would be unavailable to testify at that litigation by killing him. App.119. There was no other motive for Meister's murder. Compare Bibbs v. Texas, 371 S.W.3d 564, 570 (Tex. Ct. App. 2012) ("evidence" that defendant shot his exgirlfriend because he was "obsess[ed] with [her] after she decided to terminate their relationship"); Jackson, 706 F.3d at 267, 269-70 (timing of murder indicated that defendant murdered declarant to prevent him from testifying, although defendant "had additional reasons" for killing a competing drug dealer).

Reinwand also argues the forfeiture exception should not apply because he would not be a party to future mediation or custody proceedings. Opening Br. 22–23 (citing Giles). But Reinwand provides no reason why this Court should so limit the forfeiture exception. Giles does not provide that limit. Giles' main concern was that a murder victim's statements would be admissible in nearly every murder case because the defendant's act caused the victim's unavailability. Giles, 554 U.S. at 374. The Court sought to limit the application of the forfeiture doctrine to cases where individuals kill specifically to prevent someone from testifying. Here, the evidence indicated that Reinward killed Meister to prevent him from testifying in visitation and custody proceedings. And a requirement that the defendant be a party to the other proceeding would "permit[]" those willing to kill for even indirect benefits "to take advantage of [their] wrong[s]." Reynolds, 98 U.S. at 159; see also Mattox, 156 U.S. at 242–43.

Reinwand claims that the exception should not apply because there was no pending custody proceeding. Opening Br. 22–23. But courts have repeatedly applied the forfeiture exception even when no proceedings are currently pending. See supra pp. 30–31. Any contrary rule would reward "unscrupulous" defendants who kill potential witnesses

"sooner rather than later." *Stewart*, 485 F.3d at 672 (citation omitted).

- C. Even If The Court Erroneously Admitted Meister's Statements, Any Error Was Harmless
- 1. A Confrontation-Clause violation is subject to harmless-error analysis. Williams, 2002 WI 118, ¶ 2. The State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error "did not contribute to the verdict obtained." State v. Deadwiller, 2013 WI 75, ¶ 41, 350 Wis. 2d 138, 834 N.W.2d 362 (citation omitted). Relevant factors include the "importance of the erroneously admitted evidence," "whether [it] duplicates untainted evidence," the "nature" and strength "of the defense," and the "nature" and "strength" of the State's case. Id.
- 2. Meister's statements about how he feared that Reinwand might kill him and how Reinwand was to blame if he showed up dead "did not contribute to the verdict obtained" beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id*.

The State presented powerful, unquestionably admissible evidence of Reinwand's guilt. Reinwand confessed to police that he might have killed Meister, but could not remember anything but arguing with him. R.75:11. He told his county-jail cellmate in the summer of 2008 that he would rather be in jail than have Meister "walking the street," R.324:251; 328:34, and "confessed" to another inmate, R.327:91, 208. Reinwand's friend testified that Reinwand had

"choked" Meister and threatened him on a prior occasion, R.324:143, and that Reinwand strongly disliked Meister, R.324:144, although Reinwand told police that he did not have any "disagreements about custody" with Meister, R.75:11; 328:86. Meister met with Reinwand right before he died, R.320:71–72, and a witness saw a pickup truck matching Reinwand's and heard an argument at Meister's trailer around the time that Meister died, R.327:24–31; 319:43–44. Reinwand had easy access to the only spare key to Meister's trailer. R.323:223; 324:32, 47; 319:52. Reinwand owned a gun and threw out an unspent bullet which matched the bullet recovered from Meister's body. R.24:5, 6, 11; 322:76–77, 94–96; 324:9. Police found a "cut" piece of a gun grip matching the potential murder weapon in Reinwand's truck. R.319:65; 322:6, 33, 139–40.

Reinwand's defense was weak. *Deadwiller*, 2013 WI 75, ¶ 41. His only evidence was that, under current standards, the DNA on the gun grip from his truck was "inconclusive," R.79:2; 330:26; 324:193–96, and seven other items collected from the crime scene did not have Reinwand's DNA on them, R.324:203–15. He also pointed out that the witness who said that the truck near Meister's trailer matched Reinwand's later told police that the truck near the trailer might have had "rounder" taillights. R.327:30. But the lack of Reinwand's DNA on seven isolated items and a single witness's uncertainty about a small detail did not counter his incriminating statements to police and other inmates, his

access to Meister's trailer, the fact that he had a gun, a gun grip, and an unspent bullet similar to the murder weapon, and the State's undisputedly non-testimonial evidence that Reinwand was interfering in Meister's efforts to get visitation.

Excluding Meister's statements about his fear of Reinwand and how Reinwand was to blame if he showed up dead also would not have made a difference because those statements effectively "duplicate[d] untainted evidence." Deadwiller, 2013 WI 75, ¶ 41. The jury knew of Reinwand's motive to kill Meister from Meister's undisputedly nontestimonial statements about Reinwand's involvement in the visitation dispute between him and Jolynn. R.320:22–23 (Jodi); R.320:166 (Renee). The jury also knew Reinward had assaulted and threatened to kill Meister. R.324:143-44: 325:153-54; 328:42; 44. The fact that Meister was afraid of Reinwand or suspected that Reinwand would be responsible for any harm did not add new information. Deadwiller, 2013 WI 75, ¶ 41.

II. The Admission Of Other-Acts Evidence Did Not Violate Reinwand's Rights

A. The Trial Court Properly Admitted "Other Acts" Evidence

1. Evidence of other wrongful acts is admissible if: (1) it is offered for a permissible purpose, (2) it is relevant, and (3) its probative value is not substantially outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice. State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, ¶ 57, 361 Wis. 2d 529, 861 N.W.2d 174. Permissible purposes include

motive, intent, knowledge, see Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2)(a), and "provid[ing] a full presentation" or "context" of the case, Muckerheide, 2007 WI 5, ¶ 23. The State needs only one of the "almost infinite" permissible purposes. State v. Marinez, 2011 WI 12, ¶ 25, 331 Wis. 2d 568, 797 N.W.2d 399; State v. Speer, 176 Wis. 2d 1101, 1113–14, 501 N.W.2d 429 (1993). Other-acts evidence is "relevant" if it relates to a fact or proposition that is of consequence to the determination of the action. Marinez, 2011 WI 12, ¶ 33. "Even dissimilar events or events that do not occur near in time may still be relevant to one another." Id. Evidence is unfairly prejudicial when "it appeals to the jury's sympathies, arouses its sense of horror, [or] provokes its instinct to punish." Muckerheide, 2007 WI 5, ¶ 33.

2. Here, the circuit court properly admitted the otheracts evidence about Reinwand's prior burglaries. The State introduced the evidence for a legitimate legal purpose: to give a "full presentation" of the case. Id. \P 23. When police interviewed Reinwand about Meister's murder, he stated that he "killed [Meister]" and was not "really arguing about that" but could not remember because of his memory issues. R.75:11. The State introduced evidence at trial that Reinwand had claimed "memory issues" for other crimes in those same interviews but later revealed that he remembered them. R.335:4; see Wis. Stat. § 904.04. Specifically, Reinwand admitted to one of those crimes in a subsequent letter to his granddaughter, undermining his memory problems. The State did not introduce the other-acts evidence for an improper purpose: i.e., to show Reinwand murdered the father of his grandchild because he had burglarized his neighbor. See Speer, 176 Wis. 2d at 1113–14. This other-acts evidence was relevant because it indicated Reinwand's claimed memory issues were a tactic to avoid responsibility for Meister's murder. See Muckerheide, 2007 WI 5, ¶ 23. This other-acts evidence was not unfairly prejudicial. Id. ¶ 33. Burglary of an unoccupied home is not a violent crime that would appeal to the jury's sympathies or "arouse[] its sense of horror." Id. Nor would the burglary make the jury more likely to punish in a trial for an execution-style first-degree murder. Id.

3. Reinwand argues that the evidence about how he could not recall the burglaries was not relevant to his "consciousness of guilt" for Meister's murder because the burglaries occurred before Meister's murder. Opening Br. 28. As an initial matter, his claim that he could not recall the burglaries because of his memory issues occurred after Meister's murder, in the same interviews with police. R.75:11. And even if the other-acts evidence was not relevant to "consciousness of guilt," the State needs only one permissible purpose, which it had here: giving the jury a "full presentation" of the case. *Muckerheide*, 2007 WI 5, ¶ 23.

Reinwand argues that the "other acts" need to be close in time, place, and circumstance to the instant offense to be relevant. Opening Br. 27–29. That is legally wrong. See *Marinez*, 2011 WI 12, ¶ 25. Although "nearness in time, place and circumstance[] to the alleged crime" can affect the probative value of other-acts evidence, "similarity and nearness are not talismans." State v. Payano, 2009 WI 86, ¶ 70, 320 Wis. 2d 348, 768 N.W.2d 832. The events might be "connect[ed]" by other factors. *Id.* For example, in *Marinez*, this Court allowed the State to introduce, in a sexual-abuse trial, a prior instance where the defendant had burned the victim's hands at a different time and location because it provided "a more complete" background for a video of the victim's statement. 2011 WI 12, ¶¶ 9, 24, 26–27, 42. And even if such similarities were necessary, the burglary was close in time, place, and circumstance to the instant offense. offenses happened in Wood County around 2007 and 2008. R.42:1; 59:5; 322:194. Also, Reinward blamed his memory issues for the burglaries and the murder at the same time, in the very same police interview. R.75:11; see also Marinez, 2011 WI 12, ¶ 42. And the linking "circumstance" is that—for all of the crimes—Reinwand blamed his inability to recall them on his memory issues.

B. Even If The Court Improperly Admitted The Other-Acts Evidence, This Error Is Harmless

The admission of other-acts evidence is subject to a harmless-error analysis. *State v. Hunt*, 2003 WI 81, ¶ 76, 263 Wis. 2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771. As discussed *supra* Part I.C, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the evidence

did not contribute to the verdict obtained. Relevant factors include the "importance of the erroneously admitted evidence," "whether [it] duplicates untainted evidence," the "nature of the defense," and the "nature" and "strength" of the State's case. *Deadwiller*, 2013 WI 75, ¶ 41.

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